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At noon on 23 July 1853, a few members of the 1847
Pioneer Company gathered in the Fourteenth Ward
schoolhouse in Great Salt Lake City. After spending the

afternoon recounting the events of that July day six years

W. RANDALL earlier, they joined with Captain Dominico Ballo’s band

DIXON

Daniel Spencer,
Jesse C. Little,
William Clayton
and Erastus Snow
(pictured opposite,
from left to right)
all play a role in
establishing the
actual site of the

first encampment.
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and marched in procession to the sites of the first encamp-
ment, the first “ground breaking” or plowing and the first
irrigation ditch before returning to the schoolhouse for
dancing.! 1 The sites of the founding events of 1847 were
important to the pioneers. Over time, however, the location
of one of the sites—the pioneer campground of 23 July
1847, which marked the end of the Mormon Trial—
became the subject of controversy. As early as 1890, while
many original pioneers were still alive, the Salr Lake
Herald noted, “It has been a source of conjecture and dis-
cussion as to what precise spot in the present city site the
pioneers made their first stopping place.”? 1 Perhaps this
“discussion” was prompted by the 1887 publication of
Andrew Jenson’s story of the encampment in his periodical,
The Historical Record. After describing the visit of Orson
Pratt and Erastus Snow into the Salt Lake Valley on July
21, he wrote: “The day following the main body of the
Pioneers entered the valley, and encamped two or three
miles south of the city, moving the camps northward and

camping on the spot now known as Washington, or the

‘on the

banks

of a

Eighth Ward, Square, on the 23rd.” This he repeated in b cat t 1 f u 1

other publications throughout his long career. Many writ-
ers accepted his interpretation, and it became the prevail-
ing opinion. In the Pioneer Centennial year of 1947, the
Daughters of Utah Pioneers placed a marker on
Washington Square (the location of the current Salt Lake
City and County Building) to commemorate the camp.
1 A close examination of the evidence, however, leads to a
different conclusion about its location. Accounts left by
members of the pioneer company provide enough details to
determine where it was. 1 William Clayton described the
establishment of the camp in his journal. His entry for July
23 stated, “We traveled two miles and then formed our
encampment on the banks of the creek in an oblong cir-
cle.” Thomas Bullock’s journal adds the fact that the
camp was made near “...a small grove of cottonwood trees

on the banks of a beautiful stream.”®
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ToP AND BOTTOM: Early views of Emigration Street (now Broadway) between Main and State Streets. On the North Side (ABOVE) are seen the old Methodist

Church and, on the State Street corner, the two-story resid of Daniel Sp
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In an 1880 Pioneer Day speech, Erastus Snow put Eratiait Show
the campsite into the context of the modern city that
had grown up around it. He recounted, “...On the recounted,
23rd we made our camp on City Creek, below
Emigration Street...on the old channel of the “On the 23rd
creek...It was on the south branch of the creek we

: we made our

formed our camp.”® Three important landmarks
mentioned in these accounts—City Creek’s south camp on City
branch, a cottonwood grove and Emigration
Street—allow us to ascertain the actual location of ~ Creek, below
the first campsite. RS I

City Creek originally divided near the temple §
block, with one fork running south in a meandering  §treet... on
course between Main and State streets. At Third
South Street (known in pioneer days as Emigration  the old
Street), it crossed at mid-block near the cottonwood
grove, described by pioneer John R. Young as “seven hannel of
wind-swept, scraggy cottonwood trees.” When theereek 2
Third South Street was laid out, a bridge was built
over the creek./ It was on the

The camp’s proximity to City Creek and to Third
South Street is also mentioned by two other 1847 south branch
pioneers. John Brown reminisced that “on the 23 we s ike sroak
moved north...and camped on the south side of City
Creek (a little south of what is now called we formed
Emigration Street).” Andrew P Shumway left a
similar account: “We pitched our tents...on what is our camp.”
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now known as City Creek and just below where
Emigration Street crosses the creek.”?

Other supporting evidence for this interpretation
concerns the proximity of the residence of Daniel
Spencer and of the old Methodist Church to the for-
mer campsite. The Spencer residence was located at
the northwest corner of Third South and State
streets. West of the residence at mid-block is where
the Methodist Church was located. Jesse C. Little
later recalled: “We made our first encampment near
where Daniel Spencer’s residence was.”!0 An 1890
biography of Harriet Page Wheeler Young, one of the
three women in the pioneer company, described the
first campsite as “running southward near the spot
where the Methodist Church now stands.”!!

It has long been known that the first plowing in
the Salt Lake Valley occurred at the northeast corner
of State and Third South streets. Since 1931, a hand-
some bronze plaque placed by the Daughters of the
American Revolution has memorialized that event.
The relationship of this site to that of the camp-
ground is established by William Clayton’s diary. In
his entry for July 23, he wrote, “The brethren imme-
diately rigged three plows and went to plowing a lit-
tle northeast of the camp.”!2

These sources thus document the location of the
camp on the eastern part of the city block laying

71"0!)

(f/z'pp/

(‘f/ ale

Courtesy Utah State Historical



between main and State and Third and Fourth
South streets (block 52 of Plat A), northwest of
Washington Square.

There are several reasons why the location of the
first campsite became misidentified. Early on, vari-
ous identifying landmarks near the site were
altered. In 1853, City Creek’s south branch disap-
peared entirely with the consolidation of both
branches of the stream down the middle of North
Temple Street. The landmark cottonwood grove
adjacent to the camp soon merged into the general
landscape of the city. Daniel Spencer’s house did
not survive beyond 1891, and the Methodist
Church was demolished in 1905.5

The longest-lasting landmark, located a block
south and east of the campsite, was the Eighth Ward
Square, or Washington Square, as it was later
renamed. When the city was first surveyed, that
block was reserved for public use because of the
springs located there. Beginning in 1860, the square
was used as the campground for incoming emigrant
trains. This later usage probably led some to assume
that the campsite of the original pioneers had also
been there. With the passage of time and the disap-
pearance of other landmarks in the area, Washington
Square and the City and County Building became
the reference point for describing the location of the
original pioneer campground.

Perhaps the 1997 sesquicentennial of the arrival of
Brigham Young and the pioneers would be an appro-
priate time to recognize the actual site of the end of
the Pioneer Trail—on the banks of City Creek by a
grove of cottonwood trees. ¥

W, Randall Dixon is an archivist with the LDS Church
Historical Department.
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